6 EPES OF COUNTY KENT

pasture of seven acres in the parish of Brenzew,'s

Ihe will of John Eps of Ivychurch. dated 21 Oct. 1489 and proved 27
Jan. 1489/0, named his brothers John and Robert Eps.'” John Eps of Ivy
Church was admitted w0 the freedom of Old Romney on 12 June 1488.°°

A Stephen Epse was decennarius (collector of tithes) and jurat for Old
Romney in 1522.% Stephen Appes of Goodherst left @ will, dated 2 Feb.
1546 [1545/6] and proved 6 April 1546, which directed that he be buried in
the churchyard there, named his wife Agnes, sons James (executor with
Agnes), Robert and William and daughters Julian, Elizabeth, Cathgrine,
Dennys, Alice and Margaret, and mentionad land called Boodes.™ That he
also had a son Stephen is established by papers filed in a suit in 1570;

May 11 Eliz, (1570). Bill by Robert Aps of Estergate, Sussex, husbandman,

and Answers by James Aps and William Pate. Stephen Aps, the father of

James (defendant), Robent (plaintffy), William and Stephen Aps, was a

husbandman of Goodhurst, Kent, and died scized of 49 acres in Goodhurst

which descended w0 his sons. Of these William Aps died without issue,

baving conveyved his share in the property to James Aps. Stephen Aps, the

son, conveyed his share ¢ William Page.”

" Coum of Chancery, Ancien; Deeds, Senes C. ca 1100-14627, C14608139, British Fablic
Record Offwce.

" Probate Registry, Canterbary, Archdeaconey Register, v. 3, fo. 239

“ Information provided by Miss Stella Colwell, 4 Aug. 1980

* A Calendar of the White and Black Books, p 186,

T Probate Registry, Canterbury, Archdeaconry Register 24, fo 6B

' Court of Reqaests, Proceedings, Henry VII to Charles [ Reg. 2/1T0vd4. British Public
Record Office,



FIRST GENERATION

ALAN® EPES ( -1471)

ALAN® EPES of the parish of Brenzett, Kent, left a will, dated 5 June
1471 and proved 9 Sept. 1471, in which his name was speiled Eps and which
provided:

To be buried in churchyard of St Enswithe de Brenzete. Te Johanne my

danghter. To Robt® my son. To each of my sons and daughters,

will. Uppon a feoffment made to Thomas atte Reche and Willm Benet of

Brenzeie s feoffecs of all the land and wnements in Brenzett or elsewhere.

Benet bis wife. Robert his son, when 14. To Jobn bis cldest son when 14,

Daughters Joan and Agnes. To William his youngest son.’

His wife Benet (or Benedicte) ___ has not been identified further.

Issue: Ki JOHN®, married (1) Margaret ___ and (2) Johane ____

K2 Robert”, born after 1457

K3 Johanne®.

K4 Agnes®, perhaps married James Huggelyn and had daughier Agnes
to whom K1 John” Epes made a bequest.

KS William®, born after 1457.

* Probawe Registry, Canterbary. Archdesconry Register 1, fo. 389, reported by R H
d’Eibeux .



SECOND GENERATION

JOHN" EPES (after 1457-1526)

K1 JOHN" EPES (Alan®) of Old Romney, Kent. was born after 1457
since he was under the age of 14 when his father made his will. He was a
jurat for Old Romney in Jan, 152(¢1, along with his son John, lunior, and is
probably the John memtioned as jurat in July 1521 without othes
designation,' His will, made 3 Dec. 1524 as John Eps the elder of the Parish

of St. Clement, Old Romney, and proved ® Feb, 15256, provided
) p P

I'c be buried in the church in the Aysle part before the Rood. To high altar
of St. Marens i New Romney and o high altar of St Laurence of New
Romney. To each of my godelaldren 12 pence. To John Epse my godson
of Yvechurche, ewes. To Alice Roger my daughier, To John Epps iy son.
loan Epps my wife. Agnecs, Ehzabeth, Cicely and John the children of Tohn
Roger. John Garrard my daughter Agnes' son. Agnes Huggelyn, the
daughter of James Huggelvn, Joan my daughter, Anne my daughier, when
theyv reach the age of discreuion, Residoe © [obn Epse my son. To
Elizabeth Roeer

Will.  Youngest daughiers Jonane, Amye, Johane when 200 A parcell of
land and 16 Acres called Long beche, and the ham swith 4 acres lving there,
7 Acres of Land called Bretnes, 13 Acres of Land called Daddes, 7 Acres
of Land called quarnteclandss, 64 Acres of Land which [ late purchased of
John Amcll. 2D shellings yearly w0 loha for rent, Alice and John Roger to
have werement and garden where they now dwell at rent of 2 shillings 1o
john for therr lives. 22 Acres of Land in Hope All Hallows called Seven
hay that is © say o the Lands of Allsouls College of Oxenford towards the
West and w the land of Richard Hall w the cast. Land in Old Romney, St
Mariens and St. Laurence, New Romney, Hope, Brookland and Brenzew.”

An undated inscription in St Clement's Church names Iohn Ips and his

Huil

1835,

Akl

A Calendar of the White and Blace Boods of rhe Cingue Powtt, 1432-1955 ed hy Telix

(Historical Manoscrpts Commission, Joinr Puliicanens, v 5, London. 19668), pp 186,

The name appears as Bape m [ 32001

© Probeie Reziwrey, Canlerbury, Aschdeaconry Kegisier, v 17, fo. 34, reported by R H

LS 1
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wife Margaret® The wife named in his will was Johane _ .
Issue* K11 JOHNC, married Alice .
K12 Alice®. She married John Roger. Issue [ROGER|
K121 Agnes®.
K122 Elizabeth®,
K123 Cicely .
K124 John®
K13 .l\gne,s". She married John Garrard. Issue [GARRARDI];
K131 John®, died 1531. He married Joan .
K14 Johang®
K15 Anne",
K16 Amye".
K17 Joan",

" Edward Haswed, The Hivory and Topographical Sarcey of the County of Kens. 1l
(Cantezbury, 1790), p. 520 Anne Roper, Fhe Churck of Saint Clement, Oid Romney (5th ¢d .
np. 1983), p. 18, quotes the inscription as: "Pray for the soules of Jobn Ips and Margare? hys
wyfe on whois Almught ihu have merey. Amen.” The brass plaque. which s now mounted
on the wall and s inscribed with effigies of Joln Ips and his wife Margaret, maiches an
incised form on o gravestone in the aizle. [t was long thought that this referred 1o bis son K11
fohn® Epes. because be in his will ordered a one for his grave w be “inpictorid wt me, my
wyffe and all my children,” bul this brass does not conferm o that description

' ‘The childrer cannot be assigned W the two wives with certainty bul K11 John' Epes in
his will referred o Jobane as his mother-in-law [Le. slep-mother] She wias probably the
mcther of the younger daughters who were unmarried in 1524



THIRD GENERATION
Kli JOHNT EPES (ca 1480-1527)

K11 JOHN" EPES (John", Alan”) described himself as John Epse of the
Parish of $t. Clement, Old Romney, Kent, in his will dated 18 Jan. 132677
and proved 1 Feb, 1326/7, and provided:

Ta be buried in the church at the food of my father. To High Almar of Old

Romney and of St. Martins and St. Lawrence.” To the ¢clyng of the rode

lofte of Old Romney, To buving of a new crosse for Old Romney Church

To Joan my daughter, under the age of 20, 20 marks. Alys my wife and the

children, Alys Roger my sister, Agnes Roger. Jobo Roger son of John

Roger. Elizabeth Roger. John Carrard, my sister’s son. John Epse of Ivy

church. Reserve i Willtam Epse, Aleva Epse, John Epse. Thomas Epse

and Jobnh Epse my sonncs. To wife of John Garrard the younger.  Joln

Roger the elder

Will, A feoffment made untc Wm Epsa, Alevn Epse, John Epse, William

Mersche. John Whatnan and Edwarde Clarke. Alvs my wite, Al sons

under 21, Lands laic purchased of Henry Husbame, My two sones Thos

Epes and lofin Epes the younger. Stone ¢ be layed uppon my grave to be

in pictored with me, my wyffe and all my chvldem. John Epps twe clder

shall have a mare of the age of 12 yvears o be delivered 10 him at 14

VOars,”

His arms were described in the pedigree given by the Godfrey family of
the adjoining parish of Lydd in the Herald's Visitation of 1619-21.°

John" Epes married Alice  who, as of the Parish of St Clemen:, Old
Romnev, Kent, ieft a will dated 2 Feb, 1526/7 and proved 3 Jung 1527
which provided:

' These churches became chapels of ease after 22 April 1539 (26 Heary VI and were
aghardoned by 1659 (Richard Kilberne, 4 Tapographie. or Suney of rthe County of Kent
[Lovdon, 1659, p. 1320 SL Marwen's was 600 feet west of St Niehplas, New Rompey, and
St Lawrence's wan 2000 feet east of S5 Clement's, Cld RL"!'.‘;HU}.

‘ Probate Registry, Cantesbury. Consistory Regiauy. v. 14, p. 187, reporied by R H
' Elboga

" Letter of J. P. Bmoke-Litile, The College of Anms, 3 Nov. 1963, These were possinly
als0 the arma of his father, K1 Jobn® Eps. They were confirmed o his great-grandson K11254
Allen Epes by Wiham Segar, Ganter King of Arms (1605333 The blagon i the Godirey
pect gree was shown as “Per Fesse Gules and Or 2 Pile Countarchanged three Eagles displayed
of the last Crese On 2 Chaplet Vert flowered Or a Faloon rising of the Jast”
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Fo be buried in the Church of St Clement, Old Romney, before our lady,

o johane my daughter my part of tie house hold and kyne and vealves,

W Marshe shall bave the use of ber o the tine of her mamage. at 1a she

(e receive the canle, at 12 she shall receive the prodat of the catile. o

Thomas Tyseherste’s wyiTe. To my sister of Lydd. To my other asiers.

I'o Jomn Tyscherste my other god son. To my sister of Lydde my best

kertyll. To my mother Epse my best gown. To my sister Margarcwe my

kertle next the best. To Joanne Epse my goddaughter my red kentle, To

Tyseherste's wife my biack kertle, To lawrence Amarde’s wale two

petticoats now on my body. To Joan shever (1) best petiicoat. [o Alyn my

son two calves. To e elder John two calves, To Thomas a caif. 7o either

of my children 4 pence. Rest to Willam my son and he © be Executor.

[# Foun my daughier die before 16, John Epse my elder son shall have halt

of the Kine, e rest 0 be dividad among my children,  Wimesses: Sir

Robert Brache, Jurall, and Edward Clacke.?

She undoubtedly wrote her will imunediately after her husband’s death and
died four months later,

[ssue: K111l William®, born before Jan. 1506/7. may be the William
Epps who was town warden for Dover in 1538 and chamberlain in [535 and
1545 Hc was a member of the first four Parliaments of Queen Elizabeth
Iin 1558, 1563, 1571 and 1572.° He was a jurat, was mayor nine tmes. in
156465, 156864, 187071, 1872-73, 1574-75, 15375-76. when succeeded by
his nephew Thomas® Epes, 1577-78 and 1578-79, and was Speaker of the

—— .- —

" Prosate Registry, Canterbiry, Archdeaconry Register 17, fol. 260 reporad by B H
U Elbeax

YA Calendar of the White and Black Books of ihe Cingue Pons. ¢d by Felix Huli
(Histoncal Marosenpts Conspission, Joint Pablicanions, v. 5 Lomsdon. 1966, pp, 222-23, 234
The churchwardens' account book of St Mary the Virgin, Dover, 1536-38 (Egerton MSS,
Britnh Labrary’ contaiwes an entry  Rec of Will'm Epse the vij’ Dave of marchk i the same
year {1547] for a lywll Cuppe Syluer tkers was in the pyvae Wyg'n ownces < al i the
ownoe" (Arcaaeolsgia Cantiana, XXV [London, 1904 p. 189

' Edward Hasted, The History and Topographical Survey of the County of Kent, 111
(Camterbery, 17900, p. 525 He was refermad w as William Cpres, Sear ., in 1571, and in 1872
ah Wiiliam Eppes. gent, was chosen o0 il the vacancy occasiencd by the death of Wiiham
Wilcocks, gent.

"A Calendar of the White and Black Boeds, pp. 206, 268, 174, 177, 28], 189, 299, 307
). He was made a furst foy hfe on the incorporaton of te barons and inhabitants of New
Hl"n:n.r_-g. 4 Aup. 15683 (Cadendar of the Patert Rolls . Elaberh, 111, 1560-1563 [London,
1948). p. 459).



FOURTH GENERATION

K112 ALAN® EPES (hefore 1509-1551)

K112 ALAN® EPES {John"™, Alar®) was 3 jurat and was bailiff of
Lvdd, Kent, in 1544-35. Lydd is two and a half miles south of (Md Romney
in Denge Marsh and in the Manor of Old Langport, Lydd, and is a member
of the Town and Port of New Romney and one of the original detached
members of the Cingue Poris. Among the accounts of John Oyne, St and
Thomas Harle, wardens of the pansh of Lydd in 1544-45, 18 an entry:

Received fram Alen Eps, the Bailiff, for the money called Light Silver,

collected by him and others at Christmas for the sustentaion of the Church

£9 3s. 6d’

The will of Alen Fpse of Lyd, Kent, jurate. dated 30 July I551 and
proved 22 Sept. 1551, provided:

I'n be buned in the churchyvard at Lyd. To my madservant Agnes Aton a

heiffer. To my servant Nicholas Aton a heiffer. To my servant Simon

Wynday heiffer ind sheep. To my servant Thomas Smyths 2 sheep. To my

servant John Rolffe 2 sheep. To my servans Richard Aukyvn and Robent

Adams sheep.  To my maidservants Alice Hollve snd Julian Ravnolde

sheep, To John Wynday sheers and debgs be owes me. To Robert Dvne all

debts be owes me. To my daughters Johane Epse. Alvee Epse and Margery

Epse £20 a prece at 1R or marnage. To my wile's daughter Elizabeth Harle

£10. To my wife Agres Epse oxen, £15, housekodd stuft in tenement 1 now

dwell m ew.  Rest of my moveable goods to my sons Willam Epse,

Thomas Epse & John Epse equally. Said son William Epse 10 B¢ ¢xecutor

Thomas Stwogle, John Strogle & my brother Thomas Epse to he overseers

Winess Thomas Suogle, jurate, Robert Dynie, John Wynday

Will {of lands) To my wife Agnes my principal tengment | now dwell in for

life emainder (o my thre sons Williun, Thomas & John equally in fee. To

said threz sons rest of my lands in Lyd afesesaid, Old Romney, St Martins

Pounteney & Brenser or ¢lsewhere in Kentan fee. To my wife my wrm of

vears in the Brokes callked the Grate Brokes & my térm of years i the 14

acres called Mr. Feteplace brokes, behingd the watercourse on the hackside

of my house which 1 hold o farm of Mr. Feteplace, To my som William

Epse halt of my term of vears in my manor called newe Land which [ hotd

" Arthar Fun, ed . Records of Lydd, translated and tanscribed by Arthur Fussey and M

M. Hardv inp. nd. ), p 351
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of Mr. Feteplace. To my sons Thomas Epse & John Epse the other hali

ihercof.  Said son William Epse to bave occupying of all my lands above

10 said Thomas & Jehn his brethwen begueathed tll they are 17, Same

witnesses and Thamas Carpenter

He married Agnes | | Harle who by her earlier husband had a
caughter Elizabeth Harle. She married (3), 3 Aug. 1552, William Buthow at
All Saiets Chureh, Lydd.”

[ssuc: K1121 Johane®, pessibly "my sister Tookyes™ mentioned in the
will of K1127 John" Epes.

K1122 Alyce®, horn 1546, buried 24 Feb, 1560,

K1123 William™ described himself as of Canterbury, veoman, when he
made his will 2 March 15734, proved 12 Nov. 1578, in which he provided:
Al my funerd, a sermon 40/ to poor. To poor of Ol Romney 20¢-. To
my wife Anne £10 a year out of my lease lands 1 have of Jobn Fetplace
Esq. at Mydley & Lydd, for unexpired 1crm if she so long Lve, she not o
claim dower of other lands and make a release o my son and deliver same
o my sad (c) oncle and begther John, and sbe o make conveyance of her
estate in my other lands and goods W my said son.  To my wife, all
househotd stut! in Canterbury., To my brother John Eps horse. Ta my
brother Thomas Eps horse. To my sister Margery 200 a vear for life. To
my son Williarn Eps in fee all my lands and 10 him my leases and things
and he 1o be executor, He o have no dealings with the Jand dunng his
minority but my uncle William Eps of New Romney jurat and my brother
lohn Eps of the Middle Temple w have his bringing up il 21 and sll his
lands. 1f my uncle William Eps die befare my son be 21, a hke trust 1o my
brother Thomas Eps. I my son die before 21, my lands eic. o my said
brothers John and Thomas in fee and lease land that John Stringer, demnised
to me by Jobn Feuplace Bsg.. now oocupies by my grant, comaining 100
acres. (0 my said brother John Eps, paving his part for tie farm Usereol and
I do now 10 said Jobn Fetiplace, about 2/4- an acre, aad also paving £6.13.4
a year, part of said £10 to my wife, The 30 acres which John Andersonne
occupies being the least of the sad lease lands, 10 my brother Thomas,
payiusg my wife 5 marks for life if lesse continued and s part to said John

* Probase Registry. Canterbury, Consisiory Regicter 32.24.2, abstracted in Family History,
I, Apnl 1963, p. LIS, and Eva Turner Clask, Francis Cpes. His Ancestors and Descondanis
New York, 1942, po. 1584

"Re gister of All Ssint (Church of the Marsh ). Lvdd, Kent, reportad by Willlam Koberison
l"f-"‘:* Devon, Pa. June 1971



FIFTH GENERATION

K1127 JOHN" EPES (1550-1627)

(1127 John® Epes (Alan®, John™", Alan®), Gent., late of New Inn, thirg
son and one of the helrs of Alan Eppes, lae of Lydde, Gent,, was admitieg
w the Midaie Temple on 2 Aug. 1572, He was living at New Romney i
1579, was of Deding 1579-92, although zlsn was of Maidstone in 1578 and
of Ashiord 1592-1627. He was admimstrator of his brother Willigm in 1575
executor of his uncle William in 1581, and executor of his brather Thom as
in 1585,

He married. (5 June 1579 ar Detling, Kent.” Thomazine Fisher, daughter
of Alexander Fisher (who was buried 7 Sepl 159U} of Horsepool in Detling
and his wife Katherine, daughter of Peter Mapiesden of Lydd, Kent.

He was invelved in & sull over the estate of his wifc's brother-in-law,
Caleb Banks, in 1595:

[nterrogatones and depositions in the case of Humphrey Wilde and Miles

Hubbard v. John Epps etc.  The mterrogatories stae that John Epps and

others pamed in Easter i 40 Bliz. beought an action for recovery of debts

against Marparct Banks, executnx of Caleh Banks; deposiions dare now
taken 10 establish what cstate was owned by Caleb Banks,

Depositions aken on 2 May 42 Elizabeth (1395) from:

John Banks of Ashford, Kent, woollen draper. He is advised by his
counsel that be need not declare what goods of Caleb Banks he has in his
hamds. Margaret Banks has taken some of the profits of his lands. Caleb
Banks owed the deponent £604 and had many cartie on his fann at Rvion

Edward Haile of Ashford, gent, attomey in the Cooert of King's Bénch,

"H A T Suxgess, Register of Admissions to the Honowralde Society of the Middle
Temple (London, 1949), 1, p 37

* St Martin's Church, Detling, Keat, Bishep's Trapseripls

"W, Broce Baaneeman. ed. | The Visitations of Kent, 1574 and 1592 . (Harleian Society,
Publicavions, LXXY, Londen, 1923), p 98 Her uncle George Maplesden, one of the
Aldenmen of the City of Rochester, in bike will datesd 1 Oct 32 Ehizabeth | and proved 28 Jan
(5904 (Prezogative Count of Centerbary, Sainberhe, 2. sbstracted in Hemry Fo Watrs,
Crenealogical Gleanings in England {Boston, 1901], TL pp. 1291-92), lell 2 piece of goid w
30 shillings to his sister Katherine Ficher of Dethng, widow, a pece of 30 shillings o
Thomazine Eppes, ber daughter, and named ks covsin Jobn Eppes of Detling io be one of the
averseers of (ke will. John Fppes was one of the witneswes
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says that John Epps and Margaret Banks advised him that Caleb Banks had

a weak sstate. The deponent had presented the case against Margarel 3anxs

with ber agreement and tie advice of the Geponent.

John Epps of Ashiiord, gent, savs that Caleb Banks owed him £100 and

in additicn the deponent had stood surery for hin 10 Roger Kemp for a debt

of £200, Kemp has sincg bronght & case against the deponent for recovery

Margaret Ranks is the sister of the deponent’s wils and, because of that, he

has acted on Margarel's behalf, A liwle before his death Caleh Banks

assigned to the deponent threg leases i order to satsty his debt. When he

died Caleh Banks™ estare amouned to £1504) or L16{K). (Deponernt signs.)
James Marin of Askford, gent, atlomey in the King's Bench, says he
held a lease from Caleb Banks and now holds it from Margaret Banks*

Several vears later he was invelved in transactions with Caleb Banks'
widow and his brogther John:

R Feb. 1596/1600. Recognizance of £70 from lohn Eppes of Ashfosd, Kens,

genl., and Joha Banckes of the same, dmper. o James Pennngton and

Thomas Wood, atzen of London, dated 8 Febeuary 15399/1600, in

comphance with a decree in Chancery of 4 February 15949715600 i the case

of Pennington and Wood piainufls vs. Epps and Banckes and one Margaret

Banckes, widow, defendants. Margmal note that the decree was vacared

hecause Penmington and Wood were satisficd on 12 November 42 Eliz

(160,

On 22 Sept. 161% John ¥pps of Ashford, Kent. Gent., deposed at Rye,
Sussex. that he, being aged 69, had known Sir Norten Knatchbull for forty
vears, and kmew his father, Richard Knatchbull, and his brother Richard
Knatchbull, and deposed about the extents and rights of the Manor of Cheyvne
Court which he had known for fifty years”

Iohn Epes died in Brook, a village three and a half miles from Asaford
and, as John Epes, gent., householder, was buried at Ashford 19 Nov, 1627
His will. made as John Epes of Ashlord, ¢o. Kent, the elder, dated [} Aug.
1625 ang proved 16 Dec. 1627, provided:

* Court of S Chumber, Elizabeth I, STAC S"W2/T6, WaasS, British Fublic Record
Difice.

* Court of Chancery, Close Rolls. 12041903, C/1675, Bntsh Public Record Office

“F xcheguer Depositions taken by Compussion, Bhzabeth T o Viclona, EI3407 fas UMacn
%, Britisk Public Racozd Office. Sir Norton Knatchbull was founder of the Grammar Schoo
Bl Ashford, Kent

"Register of St Mary the Virgin, Ashfcrd, Kent, reported by William B Fpes, Devon, |
Jaly 1971 Bishoo's Trapscripts. teported by Reginadd Glencross, London, June 1940
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To my wife Thomasine goods ek. To my daughier Thomasine Epes

bedstend etc. pestle which was my sister Fookyes [sic?, Tookyes?) & £10.

To my son John Epes £10 when my house in North Lanc is sold. To my

son Edward £10. To Peser Epes £10 and so 0 the rest of my sons. My

wife 10 be executrix. My bouse in Nocth Lane in Ashford & closes etc. to

be sold & rest of money to my execulrix but if decad w0 my sons Jobn Epes,

Wiliam Epes, Francis Epes, Peter Epes & Edward Epes. My wife

Thomasine with consent of my brother in law John Bankes of Maidstone,

my cousin Alline Epes & my son Rooper 10 sell said enement. They (o be

oversecrs & to them 1(V- each

Wim{ess] Edmond Hayes!

Issue: K11271 Katherine, baptized 21 Jan. 1581/2, buricd 1 June 1582 at
Detling.’

K11272 William, born ca. 1584, burded 17 Jan, 1592/3 at Deting.

K11273 John, born ca. 1586, died after Aug. 1625. As John Epps the
younger he was bequeathed a little roan nag in the will of his mother’s
brother-in-law Caleb Bankes, 12 March 1597."

Ki1274 Katherine, born ca 1588, married (1), 18 Nov. 1606 at
Rotherhithe, Surrey,’” her cousin Peter Maplesden' and (2), (licensc 27)
May 1615 at Ashford,' John Sloman. Issve: (by 1) [MAPLESDEN]"

* Probate Registry, Cantarbury, 17-67-340, abstraceed in Famuly History, 1, June 1963, p
137

* St. Mantin's Chuech, Detling, Bishop's Transcrips.

" bid.

"' Prerogative Court of Canterbury, Lewin 24, proved 24 March 1597/8, abatracted in
Family Hutory, 1. April 1963, p. 123. His wife was Margarel Fusher. K1127 John Epes was
a witness (0 e will.

¥ Faily Hittory, 1, April 1963, p. 126

'* His father. George Maplesden, wat (he matemal uncle of her mother and his mother,
Thomasina Fisher, was the deughter of Henry Fisher, ber father’s first cousin,

“ Joseph Meadows Cowper, od, Camterbury Marricge Licenses, Ist ser., 1568.1618
(Canterbury, 1892), p. 377,

¥ Robert Hovenden, ed., The Visitation of Keru, Taken in the Years 1619-1621 (Harleian
Society, Publications. XLII; London, 1898) p. 157. No record of children by her (2)
marriage has been found but a suit brought in Virginia by John Sloman, Gent.. against John,
Francis and Thomas Epes was ordered to be continued 3 Aug. 1658 (Charles City Co. Order
Bk. L655-65, p. 150). By 3 Dec. 1658 be was deceased for Capt John Woodleife and Mr.
George Potter were appoinied o examine the diffcreace between Capt. Robert Wynne for the
estate of Mr. John Sloaman, decessed, and Mr. Francic Epes and Mr. Thomas Epes and report
to the next court {ibid. p. 162). John Sloman had witnessed a bond from Thomas Nothway
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covenanted that she should receive an znnuity of £20 after his decease, such
money (o ¢ome from (he rents of his property.  He quotes from the wi
wiuch specified that the £20 annuity was o be taxen from "lands given me
by my uncie Wililam Epps ™ The testawor died on 3 March 38 Queen
Elizabeth (15395/6)

Depositions are atiached for both plaintift and defendants. One of the
deponents was Johane Eps, wife of the plaintf?, aged 42 at the dme of her
deposivon in October 1597, Other depanents maintain thal John Berry had
declared he was willing 10 spend £200 on proceedings to maintain Anne
Epps’ title to her husband’s property, which included iand called "The
Poweltons.” Berry’s men had taken horse and arms from Lydd (o the house
of William Epps Sr. in Old Remngy and had entered upon his estate called
Great Pope’s Close there. It is allepged James Watts, an annuitant of plaintif?,
struck deferdant and that John Epps threalened o imprison Berry's men.”

14 June 39 Ellz. (1557}, Rejeinder of John Berry etc. to Replication of
John Epps. The plaintiffs Bill is utterly false and malicious. John Epps
apainst the intent of his brother’s will, had failed to pay the annuiies
provided for. Que, John Gibson, had got the will into his hands and refuses
to give it 10 Anne Epps. the sole excecutor.  John Epps had used force o
impound testator’s cattle, and threatened o carry away his corn.”

Replication of John Epps (o the Answer of John Berrye etc. The
allegations mede by Berrye are untrue. Plaintiff has made pavments o Annc
Fpps who continues in possession of a great part of the land in disputc
Berrye has caused the first rouble for many vears in these quiet parts.”

6 Mav 39 Eliz, (1597), Depositions (signed) by John Berrye of Lvdd in
ahove case.”’

1597, Depositions in Epps v, Berry ¢¢.  Deponents were Thomas
Lamdon of Lydd, horse rlder, aged 40, and John Briant of Lydd,

L]

nushandman, aged 22, both servants of lohn Berry, ™

§ Cot. 1605, Recogmizance of £200 from John Eppes Sr. of Scllenge,
Kent, gent. to William Hamon of the City of Canterbury, gent., dated 5

' Cowt of Sty Chamber, Progeedings. Elizabeth [, STAT E14/15.
Y ibid,, STAC S/ELv4

Yibt  STAC 3ELTE
olbid., STAC $/16/10

" id  STAC §/E3A3
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October 3 Jas. [ (160G5) and written in the dwelling house of the same
gamon. Epps to pay Hamon £100 by 1 July next.™

1 Jas. 1 (1606-407). Plaintiffs Sir Jobin Scot of Nettlestead, Kent, and
pame Katherine his wife, lare wife of Sir Rowland Heyward, alderman of
London, deceased. Sir Rowland Heyward made his will 14 years ago leaving
apud fortunes to his children, and particularly to his daughter Anne Heyward,
T-.rtm Epps {son of John Epps of Sellinge, Kent, yeoman} "a person of very
dissclute and badde conversacion, a common drunkard, quarreler and jabber,
a haunter of loud and vitious company and places, a companyon only of
notous and disordered persons, and thereby grown soe infamous and hated
of all men thal noe man of creditte or reputacion will converse with him, and
withall 2 man of noe estate or lvkelvhood," understanding that Anne Heyward
had a good portion but knowing himself 10 be¢ unfit for her nevertheless was
"grecdily thirsting™ for her fortune, In December last be [aid a plot with his
father. Katherine Epps his sister, Elizabeth Hawche and Thomasyn Hall his
xinswomen whereby he might secure the hand of Anne Heywarde, then aged
11.

Being expenenced in such things John Epps Sr. first contrived o draw
up a contract of marriage between his daughter Katherine, "a weman having
no porton or livalyhood” and in ne way 4 it match, and Warham St. Leger,
"a young gent of great lyvinge™ and then a ward of the King. Since
Katherine Epps was then in service with (he plaintiffs, her brotier John Epps
now had an ¢éxcuse 0 visit her freguently, much against the wishes of
plaintiffs.

On 24 March last, after divine service ai the parish church of Seilinge.
Anng Heyward, now aged 12, was enticed 0 walk to Epps’ housg in
company with Lady Smith’s serving woman, There, the plaintiff aliege. she
was violently assaulted and Jocked in while John Epps jr. took her hand and
made the following declaration: "Before God and this company [ will take
thee to be my wife, forsaking all others, soe long as wee live.,” Anne was
then asked to make a similar declaration and fipally did so but only under
duress. The plaintiffs claim that the parties could not, in these circumstances,
be lawfully contracted,

The defendants claim that Anne Heyward entercd voluntarily into the

YoM, T840 836,
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comract of marmage and exchanged rings with JTohn Epps

Depositions were made on 22 June 3 Jas. 1. John Epps the ¢lder o
Scilingc. gent. (sigrature) declared ther he had threatened his son, ecause of
nis disobedience and evil courses of life, to send him away w0 the Loy
Coundaies to provide for imself, But John Epps Jr. had reformed his wivg
before contracting himsalf to Anne Heyward who was, as he believed, thep
aged 14. He often twold St Leger that his daughter Kathering was no f
match for him by birth and by dowry and 31 Leger was then persuaded
disclaim his former aflecdon for her, Deponent had not been content for s
sOn to marry Anne Heyward unless 11 might be lawfully done,

Kathering Epps deposes (signature} that, during a conversation with Anne
Heyward she coaxed from her a declaration thal she loved John Epps and
meant © marry him. As to deponent’s relationship to St Leger, her fathes
had insiructed her not to procecd in any match gs St. Leger had promised !
be ruled by the Lord Treasurer in the matier of his marmage. Subsequently
St Leger had written a letter 1o deponent elling her that whatever she heard
about his forsaking her, she was not to believe it

Other depositions by Elizaberh Hatch, wife of Steven Hatch of Sellinge
yeoman, and Thomasin Hall, single woman, servant to John Epps Sr.™

1623, Plaintiff Joane Epps of the City of Canterbury, widow of [biank)
Lpps and {ormerly widow of George Smyth the elder of Stanford, Kent. Re
propery devised by the will of George Smyth dated 1590."

2 April 1624, Depositions taker at Canterbury {rotted by mildew).
Suzan Buckhurst of Canterbury, aged 19, deposes that she was a servant to
Mr. Michael ?Crupper who died about two years ago, and tha: he had married
plaintitf’s daughter. She had heard plantiff say that her son, George Smith
had not "playved the good husband” because he had not paid her £60 of hers
e had received from 5Sir Peter Heyman, executor to his father, Henry
Heyman.'

" Cowrt of Star Chamber, Procesdings, James I STAC 8288722, British Public Regord
Cifice .

¥ Chancery Froceedings, Series 11 Elzabetn [ wo the Commpaweslth, TU3346/23, Britsh
PFublic Record Office.

* Coun of Chancery, Counury Depositons, Senes L Elwizadets [ e Chardes [ CZIVE1L2
British Public Record (hlice
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30 May 1624, Depositions taken at Canterbury in the case of Joane
Epps. widow, versus William Coppin, Sara Smith and George Somlh,

Praintiff is widow of Georpe Smith the vounger who owned lands callec
parkeficld, and the dispute is aboul moneys and an annuity supposaed to have
peen owed by him to the plainifl. Defendants say that they had o bomrow
money 1o bury George Smith. PlainitIT's only daughter, Elizabeth. aged 35,
nad marnied Gabriel Richardes of Canterbury, haherdasher. Omne deposition
ssomade by Jehn Coppyn of Canleroury, gent. aged 26 (whose father was
wiltiam Coppin), who declares that his sister, Sara, married George Smith the
elder. Depositons also made by Rebert Stede of Smeeth, Kent. genl., aged
4y Edward Chitenden of Stanford. Kent, yeoman, aged 0. William Rooke
of Stanford, gent., aged 35: and Peter Wynne of Canterbury. gent.. aged
39"

MISCLELLANEOQUS

Ocr. (15557, Plaintif Roben Whatman of Greal | |, Kent, who
¢laims that he is seized of 3 messuages and 100 acres in Old Romney and
that the deeds came to William Epps who has contrived w0 make the property
over © himself. William Epps answers that Henry Whatman, father of the
plaintiff, by his will 8 Nov. 5 Edw. VI [1551], required him (o manage his
lands until his son came of ape, and appointed deferxlant as his executor.”

(1574). Plantfl Thomas Swayvnford of New Romney, Kent, yeoman,
that he lived in Old Romney and was seized in the right of his wafe of a
house there. He neaded to leave the house in the charge ol a madservant
who was to take care of his three small Children aged aboutl six to sewen
vears. On 17 March 21 Elizabeth, John Gibbons, veoman, Willilam Epps,
yeoman, William Mayo, yeoman, John £pps. veoman, Kenelme Digby, clerk,
George Hope alias Penn, taylor, and others, all of Old Romney, assembled
riotously and in wiarlike menner and, moved by prejudice, beset s house
armed with large pikes and staves, bound the maidservant and offered
violence to one of the children before taking away furniture (o the house of

T Ibia, C2UELOG
* Chancery Proceedings, Senes [1 Elizabeth § w0 the Commonwealth, C3/96/63, Briush
Plll']}l; Recoad O¥flce



FIRST GENERATION
FRANCIS' EPES (1597-by 1674)

1 FRANCIS' E.FES, son of John and Thomazine (Fisher) Epes, was
haptized 14 May 1597." The date of his arrival in Virginia and the name of
the ship on which he came are not known’ but he must have been a resident
of Virginia for some time before April 1625 when he was elected from
Shirley Hundred to sit in the Assembly at James City on 10 May ensuing.’
Ensign Francis' Epes testified, 9 Jan. 1625/6, in the controversy between Mr.
Thomas Pawlett and the Rev. Greville Pooley He was appointed
commissioner for the Upper Parts of the colony, 8 Aug. 1626, and
commander of forces with Capt. Thomas Pawleft (o attack the Weyanoke and
Appomattox Indians, 4 July 1627 He was also a member of the Assembly
of March 1627/%, by which time he was a Captain.®

There is no record of Francis Epes in Virginia between 7 March 162%/9
and 21 Feb. 1631/2. He probably returned (o England with his wife and two
sons, for on & Sept. 1630 “Thomas, son of Francis Eps and Marie was born"

' Parish Register, St Mary the Virgin, Ashiord. Keat.

* He is mot in the List of the Living and Dead of Feb. 16234 or in the Muster of Feb.
162445, but both fists are known W be wncomplete  Eva Tumer Clak, Francis Epes. His
Ancesiors and Descerdams (New York, 1942), p. 211, repeats a trachition: that Francis came
on the skip Hopewell and later gave that name 1o his plantation on the south side of James
River. A Hopewell, of 80 wons. brought passengers to Virginia in May 1622 and Nov, 1623,
and another ship, Grear Hopewell, of 120 tons, arrived in May or June 1624 (Avery E. Kolb,
"Early Passengers to Virginia: When Did They Really Amive™', The Virginto Magazine of
History and Biegraphy, LXXXVIII, p. 404]. but no passenger lisis are preserved. 1 Fraacis
Epes came in 1622, he and has brother Peter may have come together [t would seem that
Francis and Peter followed their elder brother Willian to the New World, perbaps influenced
by William's reports of s new heme.

* Journals of the Howse of Burgesses of Virginia 161616587 (Rickmord, 1915}, pp. ix,
¢4; Cymihia Miller Leomard, comp.. The General AssemBly of Vieginia, July 30, 1619 January
i1, 1978, A Bicentennial Register of Members (Richmord, 1978} p. 6

! Minwies of the Council and General Court of Virginio (2nd ed ; Richmend, 1976), p. 88

* Ibid, p. 151,

* Leonsd, op. cil, p. 7

* Minutes of the Councid and General Courn, p. J43,
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in London.® By Feb. 16312 Francis Fipes was again in Virginig, serving g
a member 0f the House of Burgesses for Shirley Hundred, Mr. Farrgr's ‘m].]
Chaplaing's.,” On 26 Aug. 1635 as Capt. Francis Epes he was granted [ 704
acres in Charles City County on Appomatiox River'™ for the transportation
of himself, his sons lohn, Francis and Thomas. and thirty other persons, tayg
of whom, John Barker or Baker and Thomas Warden, are Listed in the Musies
among the servants of Capi. Wiliiam Epes on the Eastern Shore. A
portion of this tract, owned by the Epes famuly of "Appomattox Manor "
remaingd in the family until 1975, and was acquired by the National Park
Service in 1579, Until that time it was reputed o be the oldest plantation stiil
in the hands of descendants of the original owner,

A Hlist of the "Names of the cheifest .. planiers that hath both veniured
theire Lives & estates for the plantation of Virginia® which is preserved In the
Bodieian Library at Oxford University names Capt. John West, Capt. Samue!
Mathewes, Capt. William Claborne, Capt. Willlam Peirce, Capt. Francis
Eppes, Mr. William Ferrar, Capt. John Ury. Capt. John Pott and Cagn
[Thomas| (Osborne and as merchants and planters George Menefie, Richard
Bennett, Edward Cage, George Downes, Obedierce Robinns and Nathanigl]
Oldest.” Francis Epes’ standing in the Colony is clearly indicated by this
petition.

He again served in the House of Burgesses for Charles City, 163%/440 and
1645/8. As early as June 1637 he was recommended for appointment as
a member of the Council of Virginig,” although it was some time before he

W Bruoce Bannennac, od,, The Registers of St Glave, Hart Sireer, Londow, 1363 ] 700
f Harizian i||'r1||'l.|'."'r_*.- Rt"{t.‘u'f‘.f'.’. XLVY: Lowdon, 193] {'-'.:'.J'-' 4

* Jowrngs of the Howse of Burgestes . JOJ9-JESAN, pp. i, 5&; Leonard, op, cid, p. 10

* Pstent Bk, 1, p. 280, This i the present site of the city of Hopewell fonnerly called
City Point

Musier, 1n John Fredernck Dorman, ed.. Adveniurers of Parse and Person, Virginia

60762475 (3nd ¢d.; Richmend [987) p. 68

? Papers relating o the Virginia Compeny, Governor Harvey, Lord Baitimore, Maryland
New Albwon, and petitions of the Virginis planters, Bankes Ms: &, Bodleian Library, Oxfosd
University, Virginu Colonial Records Project micmofilm 636, Alhough vndated. this hal
appaready was Guwn up during the controversy  swrrounding  Gowvernor Harvey '
admuimistration, circa 14635

Y dournais of the Hawse of Burgesses . 161%.7638%, op xv, ol Leonard, op. ¢iL, pr
& 24

' The Virginia Magazing of History and Bwgraphy, JX p 181,
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was actually appuointed to that posidon,

The maiden name of his wile is unknown and her given name Marie
[Mary] is known only from the baptismal record of their son. Mrs. Epes was
otill alive in Jan. 1643/4 when Capt. Thomas Pawlett of Charles City, a
hrother of Sir John Pawlest, wrote his will, naming Francis Epes as one of the
averseers of the will and leaving k:m his drom. giving 10 Mrs, Epes his Bible
and 20} shillings ip buy 4 mourning ring in his memory, and to his
godchildren. Francts Epes (second son of Capt. Epes) and William Farrar
(eldest son of William Farrar), "a silver spoon and my silver bow! and wine
cup 10 be divided between them"."”

Capt. Francis Epes did not claim his wife as a headright in any existing
land patent. Since not all patents have been preserved, however, perhaps she
was used as a headright in the now lost patent (0 his Eppes Isiand property,
referred o in the 1644 patents of Waller Aston and John George.’

In April 1652 Capt. Francis Epes was named to the Councii of State'’
and s00n advanced to Colonel, 45 in Jan, 1653/4 a patent was issuad to Col,
Francis Epes, Esquire, one of the Council of State, for 280D acres in Charles
City County on the south side of James and Appomattox rivers, joining on
(he east his 1700 acre tract, due for the ransportation of six persons. Since
the initial patent was issued during the Commonwezith, following the
accession of King Charles [l he renewed it on 17 Feb. 1663/47 and the
whole 1980 gcres was consolidated in one patent, 4 Oct. 166R.°

This is the last reference o Francis' Epes as being alive. There are no
Charles City County records preserved until Feh, 167273 when a 48 page
fragment of an Order Book begins. Col. Francls Epes is not mentioned
therein, although his sons John and Thomas are. He was cenainly dead by 30
Sept. 1674 when his son and heir, 11 Col. John™ Epes patenied a wract of

' William and Mary College Quarierly Historical Magazine, 1st ser., IV, p. 152 Cap

Pawlet! was ey idently close to the I-I\:" Jamaly as shown by the associaions 1y 1626 and (027
mentoned sbove Godson Francis Epes was then sped about 15 apd William Farvar was aboy!
17, it would be imeresting 10 know how the seemmingly cumplicated division was scoomplishe

* Patent Bk. 1, p. 787; Patent Bk 2, p 12

" Joirmals of the House of Burgeises . 1819 i658%%, p. 82 The
History and Bisgraphy, LXXXIN p 28

'* Patent By 3, p. 217

“* Patent Bk, 5. p. 341 (349

" Patent Bk 6 p 203
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2850 acves, which Included his father’s patents of 1635 and 165 ¥4 and some
570 acres of coptiguous land due for the transportation of cloven persons,®!
Issue: 11 JOHN?, married Mary Keat,
12 FRANCIS?, married (1) ____, (2) Elizabeth (___) Worsham,
13 THOMAS?, married Ellzabeth

M hd., p 62



SECOND GENERATION
Il JOHN® EPES (1626-1679)

11 JOHN EPES (Francis)), born about 1626, was the eldest son of his
father.” He married, about 1645, Mary Kent, daughter of Humphrey Kent
and his wife Joane® On 3 Aug. 1653 they sold 60 acres at Weyanoke where
Humphrey Kent had resided.’ By 1657 John' Epes was living on Shirley
Hundred Island, now known as Eppes Istand.”

in 1661 he was captgin of the company from Swinhouse Creck to Capi.
Stegge's Creek, all of Shirley Hundred Island and from Bykor's Cregk o
Powell's Creek on the south side of the river,’ by 1671 was major and in
1673 was lieutenant ¢colonel.” The General Assembly which met 23 March
166172 ordered Capt. Robert Wynoe and Capt. John Eps 1o summon some of
the ncighbors with them to seftle the boundary between Westover and
Martin's Brandon Parish.’

On 30 Sept. 1674 he repatented his land on the soutn side of James River
hetween Gravelly Creek, the city landing and Causin’s Creek, adding 572
acres of new land to his father’s former patents of 1700 and 280 acres®

"Patent Bk 6, p. 62 Since his younger brothers are known 1o have b2en borm about 1628
and tn 1630, and since his eldest son was bom in 1644, his birth about 1625 i3 2 reascnable
Assnplion

* Charles City Co. Oxder BK 1608795, p. 209, She was 0ot yet borm by Jan. 162475 when
her parents were named in the musier, her father baving come to Virginis in the George, 1615,
snd her mother i the Tyger, 1621 (Muster, in John Frederick Dorman, ed., Advennorers of
Furse and Person, Virginia, }07.1624/5 | 31d od ; Rachmond, 1987], p. 22). Hamplrey Kent,
Sged 5. son of John Kent mecchant tailor, was on 18 Mach 1607 admitted to Chnst's
Hospital [School]. Lendon, from the Parish of St Sepolchre and on 17 Oct 1817 was
dismissed i g0 to his mother in Virginia (Peter Wison Coklbam, Child Apprearices in
Ame rica from Christ's Hespital, Londox, J617-§778 [Behtinore, 19901, p. 10} The identity
of his mother, who presumably had remaried and was i Virginia with a seoond hushand, has
M been established,

' Charles City Co. Order Bk, 1676.79, p. 176

"hid p. 174

T Ibid | pp. 784-88

* Pateet BX. 6, p. 350; Charles City Co. Order Bk. 1672.74, p. 527

T Jowrnads of the Howe of Burgesees of Vieginia 1659/50-1693 (Richmond, 1914), p 19

* Parent Bk 6, p. 62
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Col. John" Epes was sheriff of Charles City County, Feb, 1675/6" and o
26 May 1677 was appointed one ol the four officials in Charles City Counpy
[0 examine wilmesses coneerning pgrievances in the aftermgth of Bagun"-{.
Rebellion,” He was a justice as ewly as 1655" and was appointed one of
the justices of the quorum by Lieutenant Governor Hesbert Jeffreys on § Now
16777 He was alive 4 Aug. 1679 but died by 16 Oct. 1679 when John'
Epes was mentioned as administrator of his father's estawe. *

Issue:” 111 Francis’, aged 27 when he made a deposition, 3 Jupe
1673,' but presumably died before his father as he is not mentioned agair,
in extant records and his vounger brother was their father’s administrator
1678,

112 JOHN', mamied Mary

113 WILLIAM®, married Sarah (Waipole) Jones.

114 EDWARD”, married Mary Green.

115 DANIEL’, married Mary

* Churles City Co. Cyder BR. 1676-79, p. 210

L0 1730, p 191, Public Record Office, Loadon, i John Davenport Neville. Bacon s
Rebeilion, Abttracts of Magerials in the Codomial Records Project (np, 1976), pp. 74-75
(Charjes City Co. Ozder Bk. 1676-79, p. 176.

" Charkes City Co. Order Bk, 1855-65, p. 1.

? Chirkes City Co. Opder Bk 1676-79, p. 228,

12 mhid., p. 395.

" hid.. oo 410, Jobr® wes, however, referred to as executor of his father's will, 25 May
1680 (Surry Co. Wills, Deeds &c 1671-84, p, 2615, That John® Epes lef a will 18 confirmed
by the certificate granted ¢ Jobe® on 3 Apeil 1689 staung that fobn' was the reputed son of
Coll. John Epes and Mary Epes, his wife, whost maden nume was Mary Kent, and Gat John'
proved his Zuther's will in Charles City County Cowt as executor and son and herr (Charles
City Ce. Order Bk, 68765, p. J05:. The will probably dividad the 1674 patent for 2550
acres granted W John® wneng his sops since the acreage held by John' William®, Edwazrd’ and
Daniel’ in 1704 equals the 1980 acres originally patznted by Francis' Epes in 1635 and 1653
the additional ST [ST2] acres added in 1674 has not heen accoentad for

' Sinca 112 John® Epes was not given liberty by the court to lay out his Zaiher's land
according fo his father's will undl Dec. 1685 (Charles City Co. court orders. 16885, fragment
Virginia State Arcnives Ac 14093), it 3s possible that 11 John’ Fpes was mamied twice and
only his sons Francic’ and John” wese by Mary Kent. The other three children appesr w be
cormadesably vounger.

* Chartes City Cur. Onder Bk, 167274, p. $27
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12 FRANCIS® EPES (ra.1628-1678)

12 FRANCIS? FPES (Francis') deposed, 8 Jaly 1677, he was aged 49 or
thereabouts and, 200 Aug, 1678, that he was aged 5D or thereabouts,!” and
was presumably born in Virginia. By 20 April 1658 he was & justice of
Charles City County and he was called captain, £ June 1660, but seems ©
have removed © Henrico County shortly aflerward. A bond given by Samuel
Claphamson to Francls Epes and his wife Elizabeth on 17 Oct. 1677
described them as residents of "Burmooda Hundred in the upper pans of
lames River in Virg""**

Al 2 meeting of the militia at Westover, 12 June 1661, it was ordered that
a trained bamnd, with addition of horse, report to Fort Henry apon c¢casion of
alarm and there be commanded by Capt. Francis Epes, one of the captains of
"the Guards of the Counties."* He was a justice of Henrico Courty on 4
Feb. 1664/5°! and served as Burgess, 1670-76." On 27 Oct. 1673 Maj.
Francis Epes was granted 927 acres, 2 roods and 16 poles of land in Henrico
County on the north side of Appomattock River on Swift Creek.”

In March 1675/6¢, in an Act for defense against the Indians, Li.Col,
Francis Epes ol Henrico is mentioned.™ Col. Francis Epes was presen: al
an Omphans’ Court at Varina in Henrico County, 20 Aug. 1678, when he gave
an account of catle belonging 0 Charles and Mary Worsham, orphans of Mr,
William Worsham *

Col, Francis Epes was ong of the factors of John Brown and Thomas

7 Charles City Co. Order Bk 167675, p. 200; Hearsco Co. Order BR 1678-93, 2. 56

" Charies City Co. Order Bk. 1635-4%, pp. [37, 233

" Heroxeo Co. Deeds & Wills 167792, pp. 260-61. On | April 1679 Rickard Keonon
acknowledged the receipt of this bond (o Fra. Epes, adpunistrator of Col. Pra. Epes. He
was to receive the monty ie England and pay it to the admuniswator,

= Ihid, p. 287

oAmbler Mss, no. 14, Library of Congress

¥ Cynthia Miller Yeonard comp., The Gereral Astemiddy of Viegoma Juwdy 30, i6i9
Janaary 11, 1978 A Aiventenmal Regitler of Members (Ruchmond, 1978, p. 3%

* Patent Bk 6, p. 480

* Wilizm Willer Hening, The Staruies & Large . of Virginig 11 {New York, 1823, ¢
31D

“ Henrico Co, Orphans Caurt Bk, 1877-1739, p. 2. They were s step-chiléren
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Sandys of Londoen in the wbacco trade. ™

A letter of Col. Herbent Jerfreys, the Governor of Virginia, 1o Sir Henry
Coventry repartad that

O the 22nd and 231d of Angust {1678] some Indians came downg uppaon

Jlames Kiver to the number of 150 or 200 i Henrroo County .. on the 24th

some of the Militia officers of Hennico County gott upp 2 party of forty six

horse and march'd tnediately upp wo [ | upper plantation of Coll;

|Rowiand] Place's; The cheife officer Coll: [Francis] Epps and Major

[William] Harris werg Xill'd and two more wounded |,
He was dead by 28 Aug. 1678 when Elizabeth Epes of Burmodii Hundred,
widow, wrote the first of ber two wills. On 2 Dec. 1678 Mr. Richard Cocke,
Sr., aged 3%, deposed that Col. Francis Epes the day before he died gave hus
estate (0 his wife and four children.”™ The same day William Randolpt,
aged 28, deposed thet he was at Col. Francis Epes’ house one or two days
before his death, he being dangerously wounded and had no time to make a
will, but that he wanted his astate to 20 10 his wife and four children, and he
hoped his brother would seat one of them at Cawsons and that Lanclands
would serve oneg of the boys.”™

in Oct. 1688 Micajah Perry, merchant of London, was appointed by the
Prerogative Cournt of Canterbury to administer the estate of Francis Epes, the
Elder, of Virginia during the absence of his son Francis Epes.”

Col. Francis® Epes married (1), about 1658, _ * and (2), about 1661,

* Count of Chancery, Couniry Depositions, Series I 1649-1714, C2L220/18, Brush
Public Record Office. A deposition of Colone] Francts Epps of Henrice Cougity, Jumes River
aged 4945 stated o Kave been taken o James City, 2 July 1679, The yvear must be 1677 since
Francis® Fpes was 49 in that year and was desd in 1679,

* Coventry Papecs, LXVIIL. fol. 29394, Virginia State Archives Miscellanecus film 431

# Henrico Co. Order B 167893, p 64

= Ibid,, p. 65
¥ Peter Wilson Coldham, American Wills & Administrations in the Prerogative Court of
Canterbury, [6]0-1857 (Baltimmore, 1989), p. 102

¥ It has beon erropeonsiy assimmed that she was a Miss Wells becanse an account of the
estate of [homas Weils, deceased, returned 2 March 170172 (Henrico Co. Deeds &eo 1697
1704, p. 2743 shows that Capi. Francis’ Fpes was pad 20,649 pounds of tobacos, which
inciuded two-NTths part of 1% hogsheads of tobacco and ten barrels of Indian com. This doos
not. however, indicate that Francis' Epes was an dedr of Thomas Wells, who died in Sepd
'69% (Hennico Co. Deeds & Wills 148897, p 664) leaving a widow Mary, a son Thomax and
a daughter Mary, both under 15, The paviment resalied from & judgment obtsined 3 Aug, 1897
by Capt. Francis' Epés agamst Thomas Parker and Mary his wife, execornix of the estate of
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Mrs, Elizabeth Worsham, widow of William Worsham of Henrico County.
as Elizabeth Epes of "Burinodii® hundred, widow and relict of Col, Francis
Fpes of the County of Henrico, she made two wills, one dated 28 Aug. 1675,
in which she provided for her Worsham children, Johin Worsham, Elizabeth,
wife of Richard Keanon, Mary Worsham and Charles Worsham, and the
other, dated 23 Sept. 1878, in which she provided for ber Epes children,
william, Litdebury and Mary Epes. She appointed her son-in-law Richard
Kennon and her son-in-law [stepson] Francis' Epes her execuloss. Both wills
were proved 1 Oct. 1678.%

Issue: (by 1) 121 FRANCIS®, married Anne Isham.

(by 2) 122 WILLIAM’', married Flizabeth

123 LITTLEBURY', married (1) ____ Llewellyn, (2) ____

124 MARY?®, married (1) John Hardyman, (2) Charles Goodrich.

13 THOMAS® EPES (1630-by 1679)

13 THOMAS' EPES (Francis') was baptized 8 Sept. 1630 a1 St. Olave,
Hart Street. London.™ Mr. Thomas Epes was referred o, 27 Aug. 1656,
and on 3 Aug. 1658 & suit between John Sloman, Gent., and Capt. John®
Epes, Mr. Francis® Fpes and M:. Thomas' Epes is menttoned.™ M.
Thomas Epes was listed a8 a justice, 4 Aug. 1673, along with his brother
[1.Col. John Epes.”” He witnessed an instrument of Mrs. Jane Osborne |
Nov. 16767 but died before 4 June 1679 when the petition of Elizabeth

Thomas Wells, deceased. for a debt of 24,000 pounds of whecoe (Henneo Co. Order Bk
16941701, p. 149).

“ T has ofien been suggested dhat her maiden pame was Litlebary bat no evidence of this
Bas teen found.

¥ Hearico Co. Order Bk 167893, pp. 5%.60.

* W. Bruce Bannerman, &d., The Registers &f St Olave, Hart Streee, London, 1562-17040
(Harleisn Society, Regisrers, XLV, London. 19165 p. 40, He deposed, 4 Feb. 16465/6, that
he was 3% vears old (Charles City Co Order Bk, 1455.65, p. 633,

* Chasles City Ce. Osder Bk 1635-65, p 71

* Ihid., p. 150

" Chardes City Co. Order B 1672-74, p. 533

* Charies City Co. Order Bk 1676-79, p. 184
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He married Mary _ who may be the Mary Epes whose estate inven-
tory was made pursuant 10 crder of 8 Oct. 1723 and was retomned 10 Deg
1723 by lohn Peterson, Jr., her adminisiratoe.”

Issue:® 1121 Mary®, married 132 John' Epes.

1122 {possibly} William®, appointad sheriff of Charles City County on
2% April 1708,

113 WILLIAM EPES( 172D

113 WILLIAM’ EPES (John’, Francis'}, “son of John Epes," was on 3
Feb. 1687/8 appointed 1o appraise the estate of Christopher Hintor!'  He
married, about 1691 or earlier, Sarah (Walpole) Jones, widow of William
Jores whom she had married in 1658 and who died between 18 Dec. 1658
and 4 Feh. 16884 and daughter of Cacsar Walpole (died 1678) and his
wife Elizabeth Nance (died by 3 Feb. 1651/2) who had married (2) James
Wallis

In 1704 Wiliiam Epes, Sent., had 750 acres 1n Prince George County. ™

Is red the same Mary BEpes.

' Prince Goorge Co. Wills & Deeds 1713-28. p. 670, The invenory was made 16 Okt
1723 and showed a wial valuation of £32.6.1. Tats identification s tentstive since the Act of
Nov. 1711 then m effect (William Waller Henipg, The Starures af Large ... of Virgmia, IV
[Richmond, 1820), p. 14) directed that adeanisraions be granted in the ¢ounty where the
decedent's manwion house was Jocated. Mary Epes may have moved from Charles City
{County 1o Pringe George County foliowing her husband’s death

*See p. 128, nowe 4, for the reasens 112 John® Fpes muast bave been the father of Mrs
Mary Epes who in 1722 seld poriions of gie ongmal City Pomt patent in ber own sight

Y Executive Jowrnalr of the Counctl of Colonial Virginig, 111, p. i80. He (olowed 112
Joho' in that office  Since 113 William® Epes and 122 William’ Epes hotk lived i Prince
CGeerge County and 1213 Wilhiam® was enly 21 in 1708 and presumably then lived in Henrico
County, the existence of 1522 Wilham' 1s assumed bot entirely unproved. He muost have died
unmarriad and without issee.

" Charles City Co. Order Bk, 1687-%5, p. 104 Since two pages of the Order Book prior
to this ey are missing the date may actually be Narch 168778

Y thid. pp. 127, 187, 193,

" Ibid.. pp. 185, 89

© The Virrinia Magazine of History ard Biograpics, XXVIL p 330 He signed this guit
rent roli ag shenif.
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william and Sarah Epes were of Westover Parish, Prince George County,
when, 7 Nov. 1715, they sold 100 acres formerly betonging to Caesar
W‘alml:.“ They presumably lived s "Hopewell” on James River between
Poythress Creek and Gravelly Run, below "City Point.,”  On 11 Jume 1722
he purchased for £100 sterling a tract of 150 acres on Baley's Creek from
Mary Epes, widow,” and on 18 Feb. 17223 William Epes, Sr.. palented
137 acres in Prince George County on both sides of Gravelly Run'’

The undared will of William® Epes was proved 11 April 1727.% He
named his wife Sarah, son Francis {the plantaton where | now live), son
William (plantation at Gravelly Run), daughters Mary Bevil and Sarah Epes.
The will of his widow Sarah Epes. dated 14 Feb, 1727/ and proved 11 Nov,
1729." of "Hopewell,” Martin’s Brandon Parish, Prince George County,
pamed daughter Mary Bevil, son Francis Epes. daughter Sarah Epcs and son
William Epes.

Issuc: 1131 MARY®, mamied Joan Bevill.

1132 FRANCIS®, married Susanna Moore,

1133 Sarah™, unmarmied, i4d Feb, 172775, when mentioned in her mother’s
will.

1134 William®, devised land on Gravelly Run, Prince George County, by
his father.™

114 EDWARD' EPES (  -by 1730)

114 ICDW.M{['J’ EPES (John®, Francis'y had 500 acres in Prince George
County, 17045 In 1714, 1715 and 1716 he was named as a juror or an

“ Prince George Co, Wills & Desds 1713-28, p. 94

'® Ibid . pp. §37-38

" Patent Bk 11, p. 18!

' Prince George Co. Wills & Deeds 1712-28, pp. 980-8]

Y Vigginte State Archives, Acc 23423

¥ Sge Appendix A for diseussion of records relating to the several Williuns who were
Contemparares.

¥ The 'l'irh'e.:'l':m .L.‘I’a.‘g».:l:.rrf of Histery gra Biograghy, XXVIII. p. 330, He s assumead 4
have been a son of John' Epes since his fand seems (o have been 2 part of the aniginal City
Poini patent, confirmed w John' Epes i eldest son of his father. A deed from Henry Baiie
W Johp Petzrson, 1D Oct. [T03) abstraciad from the Prince George County records prior o
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appraiser in several Prince George County court orders.™ On 11 June 1722
Mary Epps, widow, of Charles City County, sold 10 Edward Eps of Pringe
George County for £104 sterling a tract of 150 acres on the path 10 Hopewel)
and adjoining Francis Epes” line.™

Before 3 Aug. 1692 he mamried Mary Green, daughter of Lewis Green

¢ presumably died before 28 April 1730 when Lewis Green wrote his wil)

in Prince George County, leaving 10 his daughter Mary Eppes the plantation
(apparently in Surry County) on which she was living, with reversion to her
son John® Eppes, and in case he died without issue to her second son Francis®
Eppes® Mary was alive 21 Nov. 1749 when she deaded this land o her
son Francis® Eppes, his older brother John® having died.”

Issue. 1141 John', died before 1749,

1142 FRANCIS®, married Phoebe __

1143 LEWIS®, married (1) Blanch Archer, (2) Lucy

i 144 SUSANNAR, mamried William Gates.

115 DANIEL® EPES (1671-1753)

115 DANIEL' EPES (John®. Francis'). bom 1671," had 200 acres in
Prince George County, 17047 but meved 1o Surry County by 8-9 Nov.
LT07 when James Taylor and Mary his wife of Surry County sold t0 Daniel
Epes of the same county 166 acres on Oven Branch in Surry County.”

their destraction (Balte gencatogical notes. Notwhook, p. 3, Virginia Histoncal Society Mesfi |
B3ZLG: 1} refors to 2 hine of BEdward Eppes running to Cattasl Creek,

* Prince George Co, Orger B 1714220, pp. 10, 95-96, Wills & Deeds 1715-28, p. 535

“ Prince George Co. Wills & Deads 171318, pp. 538.39

* Charles City Co. Order Bk 1687.95, p. 408

* Surry Co. Deed Bk 5. 1746-49, pp. 44-46, 72.72 450.52; Dved Bk, 6. 1749.53, pp 38
10, This will 13 lost but its provisicns are reclwed in this senes of deads

* Swry Co. Deed Bk, 6, 1745-53, pp. 38-39.

* The year of birth is estsblished by the parish register entry of kis deatn. He is behieved
o be the son of Joha' Epes, adbough no recosd so slating can be iocated

* The Virginia Magazine of History and Biography, XXVIII, p 330

¥ Serry Co Deeds. Wills &c¢ 16541709 pp. 380-52. He gave this land to &is only
surviving son, EdwanT Epes on 12 March 174273 (Swry Co. Deed Bi. 4, 174144, p. 93]
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He died 6 Jan. 1753, aged 81.* The will of Danlel Eppes of the Parish
of Albemarle and County of Surry was dated 16 Sept. 1749 and proved 16
Jan. 1753 It named his wife Mary, son Edward, daughters Elizabeth
Knight and Mary Tatum, and a minor grandson Daniel Eppes. The Rev.
william Willie of Albemarle Parish and his son Edward® Eppes were named
as gxecutofs.

His widow Mary died in Sussex County 13 June 1755, aged 79
}'EIIS.E:

Issue: 1151 DANIEL®, marmried Mary

1152 EDWARD’, marmried Mary Anderson.

1153 ELIZABETH*, married John Knight.

1154 MARY", married John Tatum,

* Albemarle Parish Register.
"' Surry Co. Deeds, Wills &c 1738-54, pp. 844-45,
# Albemarle Parish Regisier.
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Andersan’, and daughters Sarah® and Mary Anderson®. His executors were
Henry Moss, David Bradley and Martha Epes. The widow Martha (Sledge)
Eppes married (2), 17 Nov. 1791 in Sussex County,™ Charles Harrison. She
had died by Sept. 1798 when her son Edward” Eppes brought suit for the sale
of his father's land and a division of the estate.™

11526 Winny’, born 16 Sept. 1751,% was not mentioned in her father's
will and was presumably dead without issue in 17794

11527 Susanna’, born 12 Sept. 1753.* married, (bond 7) Aug. 1775 in
Sussex County.® Lemuel Harrison of Prince George County who  died
before 11 Dec. 1787 when Susanna relinquished administration on his
estate.”’

11528 Elizabeth’, born 3 June 1756 and died 14 Oct. 1768,

1152% Frances’, born 6 Jan. 1759, and presumably dicd before 1779
as she is not menticned in her father's will

1153 ELIZABETH® (EPES) KNIGHT (ca.1712-  }

1153 ELIZABETH! EPES (Daniel’, John', Francis') was born about
1712,” and married, about 1729, John Knight of Sussex County whose

* Knotr, op. cof, p. 32.

“* Sussex Co. Court papers, Virginia Staw Archives mucrofilm reel 1295, frames 906.919
Plessant Hunnicutt was appointed special guardian of the mipor chiidren, Janes, Thomas A
Sary and Mary, and had refused 1o make the division. Subseguently, Herbert (Herbart) Stedge
was also appoirted guardian to Polly® Bppes. vrphar of James™ Epes ca 7 March 1800 and w
Edward®, Sally®, James® and Thomas® Eppes, orphans of James® Egpes. deceased. on § Sepi.
L8O (ihid | frames ¥16-919]

# Alvemarle Parish Repister

“ Tt has been suggested she may have marvied Thomas Whitfield and, as Winifred
Whitfield, joined him in & deed, 16 Feb. 1773, to Edward Eppes and Banks Meachwn (Susses
Co. Dead Bk E, 1772-79. p. 298)

¥ Albgtrarle Pasish Register.

“ Koosr, op. cir, p. 33

Y Prince George Co. Deed Bk, 178792, p 111,

* Albemarke Parisk Register.

* il

* Estimated from the estimated birth dates of ber brothers

' Estimatzd from birth date snd from probable ages of her okier children,
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will, dated / Feb. 17600 and proved |8 kebh 1762, ramed no wifz but
children William®, John', Jordan®, Edward®, Joel®, Peter®, Richard®, Sarah’,
Anne” and Mary’, and grandson Iohn” Knight

Issue: [KNIGHT)™ 11531 William®, born about 1730,% was mentioned
in his father’s will in 1760, On 22 June 1765 William Andrews of Sussex
County gave a Negro gicl 10 William Knight and his wife Jane, said Jane
*being my daughter,” and afier their deaths o their daoghter Rebeces”
Knight”” Willham® Knight and wife Jane, of Meherrin Parish, Brunswick
County, on 15 Aug. 1785 sold to Peter Knight the land given him by his
father.™

11532 Joho', born about 1730, married (1), about 1756, Elizabeth
Stokes. born 20 Ang. 1740, daughter of Syivanus and Cecelia Stokes, who
was mentoned in her father's will, dated 25 Sept. 1758 and proved 19 June
1766, and in her mather’s will, datad 29 Sept. 1775 and proved 19 Oc
1786.” He married (2) Sarah . ‘The will of John' Knight of Albemarls
Parish. dated 23 July 1785 and proved 3 Feb, 1791.% named his wilfe Sarah
and children Crecy” [Locretia] Pippin, wife of Joseph Pippin of Norh
Carolina, Walker®, Silvanus® (under age), Elizabeth®, Charles®, and John®
(under age).

11532 Jordan’, born about 1734, married Elizabeth

11534 Edward’. born about 1736, was named in his father’s will in 1760.

11535 Joel’, bomn about 1738, married Hannah __ ©

]

" Sussex Co. Will Bk AL 175462 p 229

" The buth dates of these children are estimated from the three known dates recorded in
the Albemasle Parish Register.

*0On 11 March 1752 nus father conveved 10 ham 150 acres on the south side of Lees
Branch, pan of a grant © John Kaight on 25 haly 1741 (Soery Co. Deed Bk 6, 1749-33 p
5005,

7 Bussex Co. Dead BR C, 176368, p. 174

Yibid pp 17677

" Fatimated from dirth of daughter Lydia, 27 Apsi 1757 (Albernarle Parish Registerl,
" Albemarle Parixh Register
Sisges o Will BK. B, 1708471, 0 /4,

* Sussex Co. Wikl Bx. ID, 1TRI.B6, p. 426, Elizabeth was stll Living on 18 Jae 1774
When she apd ber husbard conveyed 160 acres 10 Chasies Wenb {(Suassex Co. Deed Bx. b, p
LRty

* Sussex Co. Wil Bk E, 179096, n 78

Y Albemarie Parish Register, hinths of children, 176571

“ Albemnasle Parish Register, births of chiliren 176569

bl



